IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM DUANE ELLEDGE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 83,321

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 1 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]
Chief Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

RICHARD B. GREENE
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 265446

Counsel for Appellant

ORIGINAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

William Elledge was the defendant in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal
"SR" Supplemental Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 17, 1975, Mr. Elledge pled guilty to first degree murder and rape R2000-2006. Mr. Elledge was sentenced to death; that sentence was vacated on appeal. Elledge v. State, 346 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1977). Mr. Elledge was resentenced to death; this Court affirmed. Elledge v. State, 408 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 1982). The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed. Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 1439 (11th Cir.), modified 833 F.2d 250 (1987). Mr. Elledge was resentenced to death. This Court reversed. Elledge v. State, 613 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 1993).

The current penalty phase took place on November 1-19, 1993. The jury recommended death by a vote of nine to three R3580. The trial court imposed the death penalty on February 4, 1994 R3748-3776.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The prosecution's case in chief consisted of two general areas. The first area consisted of relatively brief testimony concerning this homicide. The second area consisted of more extensive evidence concerning other offenses.

The defense case consisted of three general areas. The first area involved the extreme physical, emotional, and sexual abuse which Bill Elledge suffered as a child; the extreme poverty he grew up in; and his extremely dysfunctional family (both parents were alcoholics). The second area involved the testimony of two mental health profes-

sionals. Both testified that Mr. Elledge met the criteria for the statutory mitigating circumstances pursuant to Fla. Stat. 921.141(6)(b) (the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance) and (6)(f) (the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired). They testified extensively about Mr. Elledge's abusive background and the resulting pathologies including alcohol and drug abuse. The third area consisted of testimony of correctional officers who testified to Mr. Elledge's good behavior in prison and friends and family who testified to his positive changes while in prison.

The prosecution's case concerning this offense was relatively brief. Officer Charles Perone testified to his recovery of the body R1137-1138. Dr. Abdullah Fateh, associate medical examiner, testified concerning the autopsy. He stated that the cause of death was asphyxiation due to strangulation R1147. She had sperm in her vagina, which was consistent with recent sex R1150-1151. Her blood alcohol was .06, which was consistent with having 2-3 drinks R1151. However, her blood alcohol could have been much higher earlier and could decline at the time of death R1152-1153. He did no testing for marijuana R1155-1156. He stated that she probably lost consciousness within one or two minutes and died within four or five minutes R1166.

Janet Pocis testified that on August 24, 1974, she was a bartender at McGowan's Lounge R1213-1214. She stated that William Elledge came in about 3:00 p.m. R1215-1216. She stated that the deceased came in and sat next to him R1216. She claimed that they sat together for an hour and Mr. Elledge had three drinks and the deceased

had two R1217-1218. She claimed that they left together around four and appeared to be sober R1218-1221.

The prosecution called Allen Devin of the Hollywood Police Department. He testified concerning his interrogation of Bill Elledge. He stated that he interrogated Mr. Elledge on August 27, 1974 R1171-1172. He played Bill Elledge's taped statement. Mr. Elledge stated that on Friday, August 23, 1974 he and his girlfriend had an argument and he left and drank until he closed the last bar R1205-1211. He went to a bar the next day and began drinking R1228-1229. He met Margaret Strack there and they drank together R1228-1229. He had 9 or 10 drinks and she had 4 or 5 R1230. He asked her if she wanted to smoke some marijuana and she said, "Sure." R1230. They went to his apartment and smoked marijuana together R1234. She began sexually teasing him R1234. She was rubbing his penis through his jeans R1234-1235. She then went to the bathroom and came out with her panties off of one leg and around her knee on the other R1235. She came back and rubbed her breasts against him and her vagina against his penis R1236. He began to massage her R1236. She was not wearing a bra R1236. He then inserted his finger in her vagina R1237. For the first time, she said she did not want to do anything R1237. He "couldn't hold himself back." R1237. He grabbed her and got on top of her R1238. She dug her fingernails in his wrist R1238-1239. She said, "Okay, okay" and he dropped his pants R1239. She then refused to have sex and began to scream R1240. He grabbed her throat and choked off her screams R1240. He inserted his penis and she kept struggling R1240-1242. She went limp and he realized she was dead R1242-1243.

The rest of the prosecution's case in chief consisted of detailed evidence concerning events after the death of Ms. Strack and prior

violent felonies. The State played Mr. Elledge's statement concerning the removal of Ms. Strack's body. Mr. Elledge stated that he washed her body off in a tub and then took her in a car and left the body in a church parking lot R1243-1244. He was drinking heavily and smashed the car in a fence R1252-1253.

The prosecution then played Mr. Elledge's statement concerning the killing of Edward Gaffney. He broke in a Pantry Pride after it was closed R1294-1295. A man took a swing at him with a mop R1295. He subdued the man and told him to lay down R1295. Later, the man began to raise up and he shot him twice R1295. He went through the man's pants and then broke open a donation box for money R1297-1298. He tried unsuccessfully to break into a Coca Cola machine and took a jacket and left R1299-1302.

The prosecution then called Katherine Nelson, widow of Paul Nelson, concerning the killing of Paul Nelson. She stated that in August, 1974 she and her husband ran the Beach Motel in Jacksonville Beach, Florida R1371. At 2:00 a.m. on August 26, 1974 she and her husband were asleep and someone rang the bell R1371. She let the man in and he showed her a gun R1372. He forced her to tie her husband up and then he tied her up R1372-1373. He took the motel money from the desk and then searched her husband's pants and their bedroom for money R1373-1374. Her husband made a move to get loose and Mr. Elledge threatened to kill him R1375. Mr. Elledge tied up his grandson R1376. Her husband then got loose R1377. Her husband went out with a gun and Mr. Elledge shot him R1378-1380.

The prosecution also called Dean Mabry, a retired judge from Colorado. He testified that on March 5, 1973, Mr. Elledge entered a guilty plea to the charge of menacing R2055. He was given 90 days in

jail and two years probation R2057. The prosecution then rested its case in chief.

The first area of the defense case concerned Mr. Elledge's early life and the extreme abuse which he suffered. Sharon Jennings, Bill Elledge's cousin had grown up with Bill Elledge R1402-1403. Bill was four years younger than her R1402. She saw Bill's mom beat him from the age of 3 R1402. She stated that Bill's mom hit him with a "bat, belt, skillet, shoe, anything." R1403. She first saw this when Bill was 3, but she knew it had happened before then R1403. His mother would beat him for no reason R1404. She would beat him for 15-20 minutes at a time R1408. She liked to beat him around the back of the head and neck R1408. She would be angry with him for just being there R1414. She never showed him any affection R1404. He was frequently beaten until he was bloody and bruised R1405. Bill was a blue baby R1406. He had colic until he was six months old R1406. Bill's mom tried to throw him out a car window when he was nearly one year old and his dad had to stop her R1406. Bill's mom and dad were both very heavy drinkers R1407. They went out drinking every weekend R1407. They often fought R1407-1408.

Ruby Sparks, Bill's aunt, confirmed the extensive abuse perpetrated on Bill. Bill's mother and father were musicians R1423-1424. They would travel around and play in area bars on weekends R1424. They also drank while they were playing R1424. Bill's mom resented having children because it stopped her from having the life she wanted as an entertainer R1425. She confirmed that Bill was a blue baby who had to be placed on goat's milk R1426. Bill's parents drank heavily every day R1428. It was even worse on weekends R1429. They would stay up

drinking and playing R1429. They would leave Connie, Bill's sister, in charge of the house beginning when she was six or seven.

Bill's mom would beat him with her fist or anything she got ahold of R1431. She beat him in the face, kicked him, and cursed him R1431. She moved away from Bill's family because she could not stand the abuse and could not stop it R1432. Bill lived with another aunt and uncle for awhile who also beat him R1433-1434. Bill often ran away from his parents because of the abuse, starting when he was 13 or 14 R1434-1435. Bill's mom ran away from the family two or three times R1435. Once, she came back pregnant with another man's child R1436. Bill's mom never stopped resenting the children R1441.

Daniel Elledge, Bill's brother, confirmed the horrible atmosphere they grew up in. His earliest memories were of the beatings which he and his brother and sisters suffered R1490. He described it as follows:

It was beatings until the degree to regardless of what it was it was used or where it hit you it doesn't matter until you was curled up on the floor and then you got your guts and your face stomped out until my dad broke it up or it existed to where she just quit beating us.

R1490-1491.

This happened three to five times a week R1491. Most of the time the beatings only stopped because his father would pull his mom off R1491. Bill was treated the same way R1492. Bill's mom attacked Bill's dad several times and once tried to stab him R1492. She never showed them love or affection R1492. She always called them profane names R1492-1493. He left home at 15 to stop the beatings R1493. Bill began to run away at 11 for the same reason R1493. Bill left permanently at about age 13 or 14 for the same reason R1493.

Their parents went out to play music at bars often when they were young R1494. They left him and Bill in the care of their older sister Connie R1494-1495. He and Bill both had sex with Connie at a young age R1495. His sister had sex with them almost every weekend R1511-1512. This was instigated by their sister R1512. Their parents both drank heavily R1497. Bill started drinking very young R1497. Bill would drink to the point of staggering and falling down R1498. Bill started running away at a young age R1498. Bill began using drugs at a young age and used any drug he could find R1499-1500. Bill's mother never wanted him around R1503.

Connie Moffett, Bill Elledge's sister, also testified to the extensive mental and physical abuse which they suffered as children. Her mother would hit her with her fist, clothes hangers, electrical cord, or whatever was available R1454-1455. She was cursing the whole time R1455.

Her parents would go out and play music in bars every Friday, Saturday and Sunday R1456. They would come home at 3:00 or 4:00 in the morning and be drunk R1456. The other kids, including Bill, would be left in her care from the time she was ten R1457. Bill was a blue baby R1457. Bill was slow in walking and talking and other forms of development R1467. Her mother would tell them that she was going to be an entertainer and that having children had ruined her life R1458. She often told them that she had never wanted children R1458. Her mother also beat Bill every day R1460. He started running away at age eight or nine to get away from these beatings R1460. He ran away many, many times R1460-1461. The family moved to Los Angeles in 1955 R1461. Then, their parents began playing in bars and coming home drunk on weeknights as well as weekends R1461. Her mother would hit

them with pots, pans, and electrical cords and threw glasses at them R1463. Bill's mother sent him to live with his aunt and uncle, but they beat him as badly as she did R1465.

Her mother left once for a year and a half and came back pregnant, with her brother Danny, by another man R1468. A few years later she left for 17 months and came back pregnant with her sister by another man R1468. Her father was always changing jobs R1469. The family often had to rely on handouts from churches R1469. Bill had constant problems in school R1472.

Two psychologists testified for the defense concerning Bill's abusive background, the resulting mental disorders, and his mental state at the time of the offense. Dr. Gary Schwartz testified concerning his evaluation of Bill. He saw Bill Elledge in September, 1993 and gave him a battery of psychological tests R1541. He interviewed Mr. Elledge on six different occasions R1552. He spoke to Mr. Elledge's relatives R1552. He reviewed over one thousand pages of documents R1552.

Dr. Schwartz stated that the most striking thing about Bill's early life was severe physical abuse.

His early childhood seemed to be one of severe emotional and physical abuse. He explained that he was quite often hit on the head by his mother, he was hit with pots and pans, he was hit with irons, he was hit with extension cords. Often with no reason or he didn't think there was any valid reason for getting hit like that. He was often beat with a belt for long periods of time beyond which, you know, when he was crying it still continued, even got worse. And then he was often told why are you crying and then he would get abuse even more for crying.

R1555-1556.

He also described the extreme poverty which Bill grew up in. He stated:

They were very poor and they lived in what was describe by his brother as like the ghetto. Sometimes they lived in a car overnight. The parents moved around pretty often being agricultural fruit pickers, kind of wandered around from place to place. They didn't have enough clothing really. Food was limited. And the beatings were just about an every day occurrence.

R1556.

He testified that Bill had a terrible time in school R1557. He was hyperactive R1557. He had also learned violence as the only appropriate response to problems, which exacerbated the situation R1557. His problems were exacerbated in his teen years by drug and alcohol abuse R1558.

He was born a blue baby, which can indicate oxygen deprivation, which would have negative affects on neurological functioning R1558. He was also underweight, which could be due to his mother's alcohol abuse during pregnancy R1558.

His test results and Mr. Elledge's history are consistent R1560. His MMPI indicated that he is moody and unstable R1656. He also scored high on depression and impulsiveness R1658. He functions poorly under stress R1659. His test shows poor judgment and poor relationships with family R1659. He scored high for paranoia R1660. He scored high on obsessive compulsive characteristics R1661. He scored highest of all on the schizophrenia scale R1662. He had a very low self concept, was socially withdrawn, and felt threatened by the world R1666. His overall test was also highly indicative of drug and alcohol abuse R1669. The Bender Gestalt test indicates mild to moderate organic brain impairment, very poor organizational skills, and drug abuse R1671. The symbol digit test also indicates organic brain damage R1674. His results on the trail making test show organic

brain damage R1679. The results on the neuro-psychological questionnaire also show moderate neurological impairment R1682-1683.

Dr. Schwartz stated that reviewing Bill Elledge's life through the five stages of development helps explain his current mental disorders R1586. His prenatal development was very adverse due to his mother's alcoholism R1686. This can lead to organic brain damage, hyperactivity, short attention span, irritability, and learning disability R1687. There were also birth complications which can have negative effects R1688-1689. He was a blue baby, which indicates oxygen deprivation and can cause brain damage R1690. He suffered further drawbacks during infancy R1689. He was underweight and developmentally delayed R1689-1690. In infancy, he began to experience the negative effects of lack of love and affection from his mother R1690-1691. Instead of receiving love, he was being beaten.

Bill's problems were exacerbated in the childhood stage, ages two to twelve R1691. The physical and emotional abuse which began in infancy accelerated R1692. He stated:

He's constantly told he was no good, lack of praise. Nothing, you know, never you're a good boy for anything. It was always, you know, you're a terrible person, beaten up almost on a daily basis. Those kinds of things cause the person to run away. You know, they depend on the older people to provide them with support and shelter and take care of their basic needs and that wasn't being met. So that leads to running away.

And also when he got older, let's say five, six years old when he would start going to school, he didn't know how to deal with people. His whole basis of understanding interpersonal relationships was aberrant and so he got into fights with kids. So there was constant fighting.

By eight years old all of this history here of being physically and emotionally abused leads him to start drinking alcohol at the age of eight years old. I thought that was quite significant. That's much earlier age than most children start experimenting or start drinking alcohol. He started drinking beers and as he got a little bit older, nine, ten years old, he drank more alcohol. Some of this

history also leads him to start abusing drugs at a very early age.

R1692-1693.

His parents drank heavily and alcohol was easily available around the house R1694. He started doing drugs at a young age and it became more and more regular R1694. This was a way to deaden himself to the physical and emotional pain which he was feeling R1694.

Bill Elledge's life continued its downward spiral continued during his adolescence (ages 13-18).

The drug abuse got much more severe. He started doing things like barbiturates and like a downer, what they call a downer. It shuts off everything and would increase his need for sleep. He also got into LSD, which is probably the strongest hallucinogen that there is. And he didn't take this one time, he took it approximately seventy times. And each time you take this drug, you've got probably ten to twenty hours where you're hallucinating, you're out of touch with reality, you begin to think strange things, you're thought processes get mixed up, perceptual skills are bad, motivation can get decreased.

And he did that seventy times. So you know, even taking that one time is enough to cause people to have hallucinations, act bizarrely for the rest of their life, commit suicide, do just unusual and aberrant acts.

He also took other psychedelic drugs like mescaline and psilocybin. These are also drugs that cause you to have hallucinations, perceptual distortions. I imagine he took those as a way of escaping from reality for a period of time.

R1696.

Mr. Elledge's introduction to sex was also aberrant. His sister seduced him at a young age R1697. Then an older neighbor seduced him R1697-1698. This combination led to a whole host of problems in later life R1698. His problems continued in adulthood. His substance abuse increased R1700. He began to suffer from depression R1701. This led to two suicide attempts R1701. Bill began to inject himself with barbiturates and amphetamines R1703.

Dr. Schwartz stated that, at the time of the offense, Bill Elledge's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired R1704. He also testified that Mr. Elledge was suffering from extreme mental or emotional disturbance R1705.

Dr. Glenn Caddy, a psychologist, also testified concerning Mr. Elledge's mental health problems. Dr. Caddy first met Mr. Elledge in 1989 R2184. He conducted extensive psychological tests on Mr. Elledge as well as spending several hours examining him R2184. He reviewed background material and spoke to family members of Mr. Elledge R2186-2188. He stated that his test results were consistent with those of Dr. Schwartz R2185.

Dr. Caddy described the extreme abuse and poverty of Bill Elledge's youth.

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