IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

MAY 21 1996

WILLIAM DUANE ELLEDGE,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By DC  
Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

Case No.: 83,321

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,  
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI  
Asst. Deputy Attorney General  
Florida Bar No. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL  
The Capitol  
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050  
(904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in denying Mr. Elledge's motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

II. The trial court did not err in allowing the prosecution to go beyond the judgment on prior violent felonies.

III. Testimony concerning prior violent felonies did not become a feature of the case.



IV. The trial court did not allow improper cross-examination, beyond the scope of direct examination, concerning inflammatory details of a prior violent felony.

V. The prosecution did not improperly introduce inflammatory, irrelevant evidence concerning after death activity.

VI. Mr. Elledge was not improperly subjected to a compelled mental evaluation.

VII. The prosecution was not improperly allowed to use a compelled mental evaluation to rebut mitigation as to future dangerousness to counter non-mental health experts.

VIII. Disallowing a defense mental health expert to view the testimony of the prosecution's mental health expert, was not error.

IX. The trial court did not err in sustaining a state objection to defense counsel's exercise of a peremptory challenge.

X. Voir dire was not restricted.

XI. The extraordinary delay in this penalty phase did not prejudice Mr. Elledge thus requiring a life sentence to be imposed.

XII. This delay does not violate the Florida and United States Constitutions.

XIII. The reasonable doubt instruction is constitutional.

XIV. A special jury instruction on non-statutory mitigation is not required when the standard jury instruction is given.

XV. A jury instruction explaining the nature and function of mitigation is not part of the standard jury instruction and is not required.

XVI. The jury instruction on especially heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravation is constitutional.

XVII. No undue weight was given to the jury's recommendation of death.

XVIII. No presumption of death was applied in this case.

XIX. The trial court did not err in refusing to consider and/or find a statutory mitigator that the victim participated in the murder.

XX. The lower court did not commit reversible error in his sentencing order.

XXI. The lower court did not refuse to consider an/or find non-statutory mitigators.

XXII. The trial court did not err in the weight it accessed child abuse as a mitigator.

XXIII. The avoid arrest aggravator is supported by the evidence.

XXIV. The especially heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator is supported by the evidence.

XXV. The felony murder aggravator is constitutional on its face and as applied.

XXVI. Electrocution does not violate the Florida and United States Constitutions.

XXVII. The death penalty statute is constitutional.

#### ARGUMENT

##### Issue I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING ELLEDGE'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA.

On March 17, 1975, Elledge, with the assistance of counsel, entered a plea of guilty to first degree murder and rape, following an inquiry as to the circumstances of that plea. (TR 3095-3135). Prior to Elledge's fourth sentencing proceeding, he again argued that he should be permitted to withdraw his guilty plea because of the "manifest injustice" which occurred due to the inadequate plea colloquy in 1975, citing Koenig v. State, 597 So.2d 256 (Fla. 1992). Specifically, Elledge argues,

The colloquy briefly mentions the right to a trial by a jury but contains no explanation that there is a right to the assistance of counsel at trial (R 3097-3112). There is no discussion of the right to compulsory process witnesses (R 3097-3112). There is no mention of the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses (R 3097-3112). There is no mention of the right to be free from self-

incrimination (R 3097-3112). There was no mention of the waiver of the right to appeal all matters relating to the judgment (R 3097-3112). Thus, except for a brief mention of the right to trial by jury, there was a complete failure to explain to Mr. Elledge the legal rights which he was waiving.

(Appellant's Brief, p. 25-26).

Moreover, Elledge urges that there was serious deficiency in the factual basis for the plea in that the court never explained the elements of first degree murder or felony murder and does not reflect a "extensive inquiry into the factual basis for the plea." (Appellant's Brief, p. 27, 29).

What Elledge fails to mention in rearguing his case for withdrawal of his 1975 guilty plea is that this Court, as well as the federal appellate court, previously concluded that the plea was knowingly and voluntarily made. See Elledge v. Graham, 432 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1983), and Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 1439 (11th Cir. 1987).

Pre-resentencing, the trial court entered an order denying Elledge's motion to withdraw his guilty plea on the merits of his claims. The court observed:

The extensive procedural history of this case has afforded the defendant numerous opportunities to raise these identical issues now before the court. On two occasions, the Supreme Court of Florida has affirmed the

denial of the defendant's request to vacate or withdraw his plea. Elledge v. Graham, 432 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1983), and Elledge v. State, 613 So.2d 434 (Fla. 1993) (when the court declines to rule on an issue it is considered rejected. See Shayne v. Saunders, 176 So.2d 495 (Fla. 1937)). The State's response to the defendant's motion, including the voluminous appendix, clearly and succinctly sets out the law of the case this court is bound by.

The court finds that defendant's motion is legally insufficient. It asserts no new or additional grounds for the court to consider other than that which has been previously raised and ruled on. Nor has the defendant established the requisite manifest injustice or prejudice. Further, the court finds that the defendant's plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered into and that the trial court acted appropriately under the prevailing law in accepting the defendant's plea. Finally, the court finds that the defendant's plea was not the result of ineffective assistance of counsel in accordance with the standard set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), and its progeny.

(TR 3135-3136).

The procedural history of this case makes clear that Elledge's current motion to withdraw his plea of guilty may not be addressed. Elledge has twice before moved to either vacate his plea or to have it withdrawn. On both occasions, Elledge's requests were denied. This Court, in Elledge v. Graham, 432 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1983), and Elledge v. State, 613 So.2d 434 (Fla. 1993), denied relief, either

specifically or based on the fact that the case was remanded for still another resentencing rather than an opportunity to withdraw his plea. See Elledge v. State, 613 So.2d 434 (Fla. 1993). As such, this Court's rulings on the voluntariness of the defendant's plea of guilty and his attempts to withdraw or vacate, constitute the law of the case as to this issue. Brunner Enterprises, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 452 So.2d 550 (Fla. 1984); Airvac, Inc. v. Ranger Insurance Co., 330 So.2d 467 (Fla. 1976); State v. Stabile, 443 So.2d 398 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), and State v. Thompson, 357 So.2d 428 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). Resolution in a prior appellate decision of the same legal issue becomes the law governing that case. Moreover, where, as here, Elledge has had ample previous opportunity to raise the identical facts per this claim for withdrawal that he raises today in his earlier pleadings, he is estopped from attempting to get around a previous appellate adjudication by arguing a different set of facts. See State v. Thompson, supra.

As already eluded to, this Court's remand in Elledge v. State, in 1993, for a fourth resentencing, necessarily passed upon the validity of Elledge's guilty plea raised therein. Because Elledge's conviction and sentence for first degree murder of Margaret Strack was based on his plea of guilty to the crimes

charged, this remand would have been not just for resentencing but rather, to give Elledge an opportunity to withdraw his plea. "Appellant raises thirty issues in this appeal. Because we again remand for resentencing, we address only those issues relating to the sentencing proceeding." Elledge v. State, 613 So.2d at 435. See Shayne v. Saunders, 176 So.2d at 495 (1937) (where a case is affirmed by an appellate court, it will be presumed that no reversible error has been found and where a case is reversed on stated point, it will be presumed that all other assignments of error have been examined and found to be without merit when assignments of error are presented by brief prepared according to the rules of the court.) See Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973).

Moreover, in his 1983 motion for post-conviction relief, Elledge specifically seeks post-conviction relief based on the voluntariness of his guilty plea. This Court stated that the identical record before this Court today convinced the Court in 1983 that, the Appellant's confessions and guilty plea were properly admitted and, that the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel has not been shown. 432 So.2d at 37.

Pointing to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.172, Elledge argues the "plea colloquy in the current case fails to address many of the required

areas under the rule." (Appellant's Brief, p. 25). What Elledge fails to mention, however, is that Rule 3.172, Fla.R.Crim.P., was not in effect in 1975, when Elledge entered his plea. In fact, the rule governing the taking and acceptance of pleas in 1975 was Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.170(j), which reads, in material part:

(j) Responsibility of Court on Pleas.

No plea of guilty or nolo contendere shall be accepted by a court without first determining, in open court, with means of recording the proceedings stenographically or by mechanical means, that the circumstances surrounding the plea reflect a full understanding of the significance of the plea and its voluntariness, and that there is a factual basis for the plea of guilty.

The specific requirements set forth in Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.172 for the acceptance of guilty pleas became effective July 1, 1977.<sup>12</sup> See Re: Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 343 So.2d 1247 (Fla. 1977).

The record of the change of plea hearing held on March 17, 1975, clearly satisfies the requirements of Rule 3.170(j), Fla.R.Crim.P. in existence at the time and fully complied with

---

<sup>12</sup>Moreover, the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Williams v. State, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1975), which was the catalyst for the adoption of Rule 3.172 in its current form, was not rendered until June 23, 1975, three months after Elledge entered his plea of guilty therein.



Williams v. State, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1975). Not only did the trial court inquire of Elledge as to his age and educational level (TR 3098-3099), but the court learned that Elledge had received drug and alcoholic treatment as an outpatient in 1973, when he was convicted in Colorado of a second degree felony of menacing with a weapon. (TR 3099). The court knew that Elledge had pretrial been examined by Dr. Taubel and Dr. Eichert for any mental defenses (TR 3099), but Elledge was also informed that a plea made him eligible for the death penalty or a life sentence with a minimum mandatory sentence of twenty-five years. (TR 3099-3100). Elledge specifically acknowledged that he discussed defenses with his attorney, discussed the nature of the case and received advice from counsel as to what to do. (TR 3101). Elledge provided that defense counsel had discussed with him the penalty phase process and the consequences of a jury recommendation (TR 3103). In presenting a detailed factual basis for the plea, Elledge informed the court that he had been drinking and smoking marijuana. He also remembered however, that Elledge blew his cool when Ms. Strack said no. He forcibly raped her and strangled her for fifteen to twenty minutes. (TR 3108-3109). The plea colloquy explored all issues

regarding the voluntariness of Elledge's plea.<sup>13</sup> See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969), and Lamadalin v. State, 303 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1974). Additionally, Elledge's claim that he was not fully informed of his right to appeal the denial of a motion to suppress because, he waived said right by an entry of a guilty plea, was not critical to the plea. (1) This Court has found Elledge's confessions in Elledge v. Graham, 432 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1983), to be properly admitted. (2) Based on the physical evidence, the conviction for the first degree murder of Margaret Strack would have still obtained. See Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898, 902 (Fla. 1979), wherein the court held that there was an automatic review from a guilty plea in capital cases. Therefore, as evidenced in Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977), Elledge had the opportunity to raise those issues which were compelling including whether an adequate plea colloquy occurred at the time his plea was entered.

Elledge's complaint that his guilty plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered because he was unaware of the nature of the

---

<sup>13</sup>Additionally, in support of the fact that Elledge's plea of guilty was knowingly and voluntarily entered, on October 30, 1974, before Elledge pled guilty in the instant case, he pled guilty to the murder of Kenneth Nelson in Jacksonville, Florida. Clearly at the time of the instant plea on March 17, 1975, Elledge was neither a stranger to the criminal justice system nor was he in any way deprived of his constitutional rights.

charges against him is wanting. The plea colloquy negates most of this contention to the extent that Elledge admitted that he both raped and committed first degree murder against Margaret Strack. As to whether he appreciated that first degree murder was a specific intent crime and that the defense of voluntary intoxication was not a legitimate defense, obviously that is the reason he pled guilty.

Elledge was charged by indictment with the crime of rape and with the felonious and premeditated first degree murder of Margaret Ann Strack. Under Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976), an indictment charging premeditated murder would permit the State to proceed on either theory of premeditated murder or felony murder or both. In this case the underlying felony for purposes of felony murder was the crime of rape. In order to prove first degree felony murder, the State need not prove premeditation or a specific intent to kill, but rather, needed to prove that the accused entertained the mental element required to convict on the underlying felony. Gurganus v. State, 451 So.2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1984). See Simmons v. State, 10 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1942), Askew v. State, 118 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1960), Hendricks v. State, 360 So.2d 1119, 1123 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970) (the act of rape infers a criminal intent from the facts itself, therefore no specific intent is

requisite other than that evidenced by the doing of the acts constituting the offense). Because rape is not a specific intent crime, voluntary intoxication is not to said crime. Because of the nature of the factual basis submitted by Elledge, voluntary intoxication was not a viable defense to the crime of rape or felony murder.

In Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060, 1063 (Fla. 1990), this Court, in a similar case where the defendant attempted to withdraw his guilty plea, held:

. . . Likewise, we find no error in the trial judge's denial of Porter's motion to withdraw his pleas. In Lopez, the court said:

Allowing the withdrawal of a guilty plea is within a trial judge's discretion; it is not a matter of right. Adams v. State, 83 So.2d 273 (Fla. 1955); Adler v. State, 382 So.2d 1298 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980). The burden of proving a trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow withdrawal of a guilty plea is on the defendant. Mikenas; Adams. After imposition of sentence, that burden means that a defendant must show manifest injustice. Adler.

Lopez, 536 So.2d at 229.

Although Porter asserts that he was coerced, he refused to give the names of the officers who allegedly made the threat, and he provided no other evidence to prove his claim. Under these circumstances, we do not find that the

trial court erred in rejecting his claim as unfounded.

564 So.2d at 1063.

The test in determining whether the trial court erred in disallowing the withdrawal of Elledge's guilty plea is to show manifest injustice. That he cannot do. Elledge does not sit in the same position as the defendant who pleads guilty but prior to sentencing decides to change his mind. In Elledge's case, he has been judicially thwarted from withdrawal of his plea. See Elledge v. Graham. Yet, once again, nineteen years after the original plea, he is asserting new grounds which are woefully lacking. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Elledge's renewed motion to withdraw his plea. He has presented no colorable basis upon which to suggest that the voluntariness of said plea was in any way in question. Based on the foregoing, all relief should be denied as to this claim.

#### ISSUE II

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